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Praise for Nate Blakeslee’s Tulia


“A devastating critique of Texas’ judicial system and the nation’s drug laws. But it is foremost a riveting legal thriller about the inspirational men and women—including those in and around Tulia—who refused to let the injustice stand. Atticus Finch, after all, was from a small Southern town, too. And Tulia, in Blakeslee’s rich and deeply satisfying telling, resembles nothing so much as a modern-day To Kill a Mockingbird . . . . No one might have heard of Tulia, not even Blakeslee, were it not for a diverse group of local lawyers and rabble-rousers, as colorful as they were unlikely, who took up the cause early on. Blakeslee gives them their just and entertaining due . . . . With equal nuance and sympathy, Blakeslee analyzes the underlying attitudes that prepared so many white Tulians to believe, against all probability, that a major drug ring was operating in their midst. Blakeslee has a masterly grasp of the region’s history, from the impact of United States agricultural policies to postwar politics. And he is brilliant on the gossip and petty rivalries that drive agendas in any small town.”

—Sara Mosle, The New York Times Book Review


 



“Blakeslee’s excellent and eminently readable book is a wonderful story of justice triumphant . . . his vivid portrait of law enforcement gone wrong suggests that there are more Tulias than there are lawyers dedicated enough to expose them.”

—David Garrow, The Washington Post Book World


 



“A first-rate piece of ‘injustice’ journalism, the kind of book that outrages while it fascinates. . . . A prime example of true crime reporting. The bonus is that it may be second only to Buzz Bissinger’s Friday Night Lights as a slice of hardscrabble Panhandle life. . . . A dramatic, David-vs.-Goliath story.”

—Jerome Weeks, Dallas Morning News


 



“[Blakeslee’s] reporting . . . is superb.”

—Steve Weinberg, The San Francisco Chronicle


 



“Blakeslee’s book is a cautionary tale; a fine example of true-crime reportage crafted of practical prose, reminding us that in the absence of practical solutions to our social ills, the tragedy in Tulia will never be considered a mere aberration.”

—The Austin Chronicle


 



“Reporting at its very best.”

—Tucson Citizen


 



“The story of Tulia is about much more than even the subtitle of Blakeslee’s book suggests. It’s about America writ large. That’s the real story that Blakeslee found in the Panhandle.”

—Barbara Belejack, Texas Observer


 



“[An] eye popping book of reportage.”

—Newark Star-Ledger


 



“Those familiar with the travesty of justice that led to multiple bogus drug arrests in the small Texas town of Tulia only from newspaper accounts will be outraged anew at this eye-opening narrative that bears comparison to such courtroom and litigation classics as A Civil Action. . . . A masterpiece of true crime writing. Award-winning reporter Blakeslee broke the story for the Texas Observer in 2000 and has produced a definitive account . . . . As with Errol Morris’s film exposing corrupt Texas law-enforcement, The Thin Blue Line, this haunting work will leave many wondering how many other Tulias there are out there.”

—Publishers Weekly


 



“Blakeslee’s prose is crystalline . . . . Blakeslee’s portrait of Tulia—a place where white and black live side by side but separately and warily—is indelible.”

—Mother Jones


 



“The tale, expertly researched and written, goes much deeper, however, than a botched bust. At its heart, this was a travesty arising from racial bigotry, drug-war hysteria and the desperation and hopelessness  of poverty in small-town America. Blakeslee weaves these elements throughout a terrific piece of reporting and writing.”

—The San Diego Union-Tribune


 



“Nate Blakeslee’s reporting and storytelling skills . . . are up to the task.”

—Brad Tyer, The Houston Chronicle


 



“Nate Blakeslee tells this tawdry story in brilliant and captivating detail.... As Blakeslee superbly reports, the truth is dramatic and tragic enough.”

—Cary Clack, San Antonio Express-News


 



“If you read just one book to understand what has gone wrong with narcotics enforcement in this country, read Tulia. It is a Fast Food Nation for the drug war.”

—Ann Richards, former governor of Texas

 



“Tulia is an important book on politics, race, and hypocrisy that reads like a courtroom thriller.”

—George Pelecanos, author of Drama City and Soul Circus


 



“Most of us like to think institutional racism in the South is dead, but this is one example of how common it remains. True, justice triumphs in the end, which is always nice, but Nate Blakeslee exposes even more here than a single frame-up by a bent narc. This is reporting at its best—detailed, in context and beautifully written.”

—Molly Ivins

 



“In Tulia, Nate Blakeslee delivers a one-two punch of relentless reporting and heartfelt story-telling to show how a rogue undercover cop tramples justice and ruins dozens of innocent lives. By digging deep into the astonishingly corrupt 1999 drug bust in Tulia, Texas, Blakeslee meticulously exposes the underbelly of drug enforcement run amok and unchecked.”

—Dick Lehr, author of Black Mass: The True Story of an Unholy Alliance Between the FBI and the Irish Mob
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PROLOGUE: MARCH 20, 2003 

TOM COLEMAN entered the courtroom of the Swisher County courthouse on Thursday afternoon, March 20, 2003, wearing an Italian-style black leather jacket over a blue shirt and black tie. A sea of black faces in the packed gallery craned their necks to get a glimpse of him, but he did not return their gaze. Coleman kept his eyes fixed straight ahead, his head tilted slightly downward, as he marched up the aisle toward the front of the small courtroom. It had become a familiar posture for the former narcotics officer over the preceding week. Each morning, he had been forced to run a gauntlet of photographers and reporters waiting outside the courthouse for him. They had snapped countless photos of him scurrying up the steps of the courthouse’s side entrance in his black cowboy hat and dark sunglasses, but he had spoken not a word. Today was the day they were all waiting for, the day he would have no choice but to take the stand and break his silence. Four satellite trucks were in the parking lot, waiting to beam news of his testimony from this tiny west Texas town to the world.

The courtroom on the second floor of the Swisher County courthouse was not designed with great deeds in mind. It is a utilitarian facility of fluorescent lights and cheap linoleum and hard-backed  church pews for the gallery, a courtroom where trials are run as efficiently and economically as the farms and ranches of the plainsmen whose hard-earned tax money built it. Yet it had been the scene of Coleman’s greatest triumphs as a police officer, the place that had made him, however briefly, a hero. Posing as a down-and-out construction worker, Coleman had worked undercover for eighteen months in Tulia, during which time he reported making over 100 purchases of illegal drugs, mostly powdered cocaine. The suspects were arrested in a massive raid in July 1999. When the smoke had cleared, Coleman’s one-man operation had netted no fewer than forty-seven cocaine dealers, most of them black. It was a stunning success. For his accomplishment, Coleman was named an Officer of the Year, the most coveted award among Texas narcs. He went to Austin to have his picture taken with John Cornyn, the state attorney general (later elected U.S. Senator). The papers called him a one-man wrecking crew, a lone ranger. In fact, he was the son of a Texas Ranger, the mythical corps of elite lawmen celebrated the world over for their prowess and bravery. Coleman had finally filled his father’s giant boots.

The last time Coleman had appeared in this courtroom was in September 2000, when he testified against Kareem Abdul Jabbar White, the last person to stand trial in the bust. White had been sentenced to sixty years in prison in that trial, another in a long list of impressive convictions for Coleman, who by that time was already at work on a new undercover operation in another corner of Texas. Things weren’t like that anymore. Coleman was no longer a cop, for one thing. He had been fired from two narcotics assignments since leaving Tulia, and was now driving a truck for a gas company, checking lines in the desolate ranching country south of Dallas. But that was just the beginning of Coleman’s troubles. In the intervening two and a half years, the following facts about Coleman’s past had become public knowledge: that he had no experience whatsoever in undercover narcotics work prior to coming to Tulia; that he had walked off  the job as a deputy sheriff in two small west Texas towns, in each case abruptly leaving town with thousands of dollars in unpaid debts; that one of the sheriffs he’d worked for in the past had filed criminal charges on Coleman, resulting in his indictment while working undercover in Tulia; that he was widely reputed to be both a racist and a pathological liar; and that he was obsessed with guns and paranoid fantasies.

The story of the Tulia sting became a national scandal. Troublesome facts about Coleman’s methods were the subject of investigative reports in dozens of media outlets, from the New York Times, to Court TV, to the Independent of London: how Coleman never wore a wire, videotaped his buys, or had a second officer observe him; how the vast majority of his alleged buys had no corroboration whatsoever; how most of the evidence was powdered cocaine, despite the fact that Coleman had infiltrated a community of low-income blacks where marijuana and crack were the most commonly used drugs; how Coleman’s reports typically consisted of a few paragraphs with virtually no description of the defendants; and how Coleman grossly misidentified suspects in a handful of cases that were quietly disposed of by the district attorney after the indictments were issued.

The sheer number of cases Coleman made in Tulia, a town of just 5,000, seemed to defy logic. Further, thirty-eight of the forty-seven defendants came from the town’s tiny black community, which numbered perhaps 350 people, roughly half of whom were children. In one single bust, 20 percent of the black adults in Tulia were hauled away. If every fifth person on the black side of town was dealing cocaine, some observers pointed out, then who was left to buy it? And why was so much powdered cocaine and so little crack being peddled in Tulia’s hardscrabble black community, where unemployment hovered around 50 percent? This conundrum did not concern the district attorney, Terry McEachern, who prosecuted the cases with characterisic zeal. Nor did it seem to concern the jurors in the original trials.  Despite the small amounts of cocaine involved, they handed down staggeringly long sentences, even for defendants with no prior records. As the questions about Coleman began to mount, local authorities, including the man who had hired Coleman, Swisher County sheriff Larry Stewart, stood by the operation. The national press attention only seemed to harden their resolve: there would be no retrials. The sentences would stand.

Now, after two and a half years of stalemate, Coleman was back in Tulia because a small group of defendants—four of the sixteen who were still serving time—had managed against long odds to secure a postconviction hearing to determine whether or not they were entitled to new trials. It was a day that many in Tulia had thought would never come: at long last, Coleman would be cross-examined under oath on every aspect of his background and his investigation in Tulia, with the nation watching. The stakes could not have been higher. Lives were on the line, as well as careers, but something larger seemed to hang in the balance as well. After the national media took hold of the story, Tulia became ground zero in a broader debate about drug policy that had been simmering for years on talk radio, Sunday morning talk shows, Capitol Hill, and state legislatures across the country. The hearing had become a referendum on the state of the drug war itself.

Coleman’s gold watch and pinky ring flashed as he sat down in the witness chair and adjusted his tie. American troops had begun their attack on Iraq the night before, and Coleman wore a flag pin in his lapel. He was slightly more heavyset than the last time he had been in Tulia, his ruddy Irish face pudgier and more florid. He also had a new mustache and haircut—the sides shaved close like a Marine’s and the wavy red top grown out and slicked back. The four defendants, men he had not laid eyes on in over three years—since testifying against them in this very courtroom—had been bused in from state prison to  attend the hearing. They sat on Coleman’s immediate left in street clothes, their legs discreetly shackled, staring down at him grimly from the jury box.

At the end of the row of inmates sat Joe Moore, the man the prosecution had called the “kingpin” of Swisher County’s drug underworld. He certainly didn’t look the part of a major cocaine dealer. He wore what had been his usual uniform in the free world, a pair of crisp blue overalls, delivered to his jail cell by a local farmer friend. For his court appearance, he had added a white cotton dress shirt underneath. Even hunched over on the jury bench, he dwarfed the three young men seated at his side. At sixty, he was built like a past-his-prime George Foreman: a giant balding head stacked on top of shoulders that were almost as deep as they were broad, and a torso that only got broader as it moved down.

Moore was no stranger to the inside of a courtroom. He was the last of a long line of small-time hustlers from the Flats, the old black neighborhood west of the railroad tracks. His varied and storied career had earned him a number of different monikers in Tulia. Around the courthouse he was sometimes called the Mayor of Sunset Addition, as the Flats were officially known. In less charitable circles his name was King Nigger. To blacks he was affectionately known as Bootie Wootie, or simply Bootie. In a town where black people had always made money for other people—generally by hard labor—Moore had a knack for making money for himself. Over the years he had run his own hay-hauling crew, owned a barbecue joint, and dabbled in a variety of moneymaking schemes. What made him notorious in Tulia, however, was Funz-a-Poppin’, the illicit juke joint he operated in the Flats. For over a decade, until his bar was leveled in the early 1990s, Moore was Tulia’s chief bootlegger, and there was great demand for his services in a dry county like Swisher.

While the three young men seated next to him fidgeted and occasionally  nodded to an acquaintance in the gallery, Moore watched the proceedings with an unblinking stare, as though his life were riding on it. And it was. He was doing ninety years.

Coleman avoided looking at Moore and his companions. There really was no safe place in the courtroom for him to rest his gaze. The front two rows of the gallery were filled with reporters, and behind them the pews were rife with other defendants busted by Coleman, men and women who had served relatively short sentences or had been placed on probation. Together with their relatives and friends, they had been in high spirits all week, watching attorneys for the defendants parse every aspect of Coleman’s operation in Tulia, as they had been doing among themselves for years. Sitting in the gallery had felt at times like attending a horror film or a Holy Roller church service, with the audience murmuring and occasionally shouting in response to the action up front. Now that Coleman was finally before them, a strange, expectant silence filled the courtroom.

Donnie Smith had shown up late for the hearings that morning. He wore a clean white T-shirt and blue jeans, his hair tied down in cornrows, each short tail bound by a simple rubber band. He found a seat in the rear, about ten rows behind his mother, Mattie White. He saw that she had a new hairstyle for the hearings—bobbed short in the back and spiky on top. Mattie, a guard at the state prison west of town, had good reason to be concerned about her appearance. She had been interviewed a dozen times in the past thirty days about her son Kareem and her daughter Kizzie, who were still locked up from the bust. In the past year, her family had been profiled in People and in the column of a well-known writer for the New York Times.

Mattie rarely mentioned Donnie in those interviews, and he did not anticipate getting any airtime today, either. Donnie, a thirty-two-year-old former high school sports star, had also been busted by Coleman. Unlike his younger siblings Kareem and Kizzie, however, Donnie was a crack addict. He had been out of prison a little over a  year, after serving thirty months of a twelve-year sentence. He stayed clean for about nine months, but now he was using again, and his mother was barely talking to him. Donnie would disappear for weeks at a time and then show up at her tidy frame house unannounced, asking for money. He was sleeping wherever he could find a bed. He preferred his mom’s house or his ex-wife’s public housing duplex in the Flats, where his two sons lived. If he wasn’t welcome at either place, which was often the case, he would crash on the floor of his dad’s trailer home nearby. He also had a number of girlfriends around town he could call on in a pinch.

Donnie would have made a good interview for the Times man or anyone else who cared to talk to him. He was not what most people would call a drug dealer, but he was one of the few defendants to actually admit spending time with Coleman. In the summer of 1998 Donnie had known him as “T.J.,” a skinny, ponytailed white man who had begun hanging around the cattle auction, where Donnie worked as a day laborer a few days each month. Shortly after the two met, Coleman flagged Donnie down on the side of the road and asked him if he knew where to score. Desperate for money, Donnie acted as an intermediary for Coleman on several occasions over the course of the summer, each time purchasing tiny amounts of crack from a dealer, pinching off a bit for himself, and delivering the remainder to Coleman.

Technically that was a fourth-degree felony, punishable by up to two years in a state jail, a sort of intermediate prison for low-level offenders. Coleman called on Donnie at least two more times for this service before Donnie disappeared. His little brother Kareem had convinced him to go to a ninety-day rehab center in Lubbock. It was Donnie’s second time through the center, and both times he had gone voluntarily. When he got home that winter, he went to work as a hired man on a local farm.

He had been clean for six months when the big roundup came in  the summer of 1999. With no prior felony convictions, Donnie was prepared to plea-bargain. The small amounts he had gotten for Coleman, combined with his status as a first-time felony offender, he figured, gave him a good shot at probation. Then he read the indictments. He was accused of delivering cocaine to Coleman on seven separate occasions. Only one delivery was alleged to be crack cocaine. The other deliveries were said to be powder in amounts between 1 and 4 grams, making them second-degree felonies. The first plea District Attorney Terry McEachern offered Donnie was forty-five years.

In the end, Donnie managed to dodge the much longer sentences his siblings received. Yet, after a year back in Tulia, he still seemed trapped. Almost five years after he first met Coleman, he found himself right back where he was: broke, strung out, and alone. Despite his troubles, Donnie had always thought of himself as the popular, talented star he had been in high school, when the whole town seemed to love him. It was only since the bust that he came to realize how people in Tulia really felt about him. The revelations about Coleman, he discovered, didn’t seem to faze most white Tulians. In fact, many of them seemed to blame him and his fellow defendants for bringing the curse of the media spotlight down on their town.

Donnie had no steady job, and being an ex-convict on parole had not improved his prospects of finding one. He was tired of the manual labor jobs he normally wound up with anyway. He wanted to become a long-distance trucker or have his own barbershop in Dallas. He wanted to reconcile with his ex-wife and move his family to some big city, far from all of this, someplace with good jobs and nice houses. He wasn’t sure how he was going to do that. But he knew why he was in the courtroom today, even if nobody wanted to interview him. He had to get Coleman behind him.

The small section of the courtroom between the witness chair and the gallery was so crammed with attorneys that there was no room for  the two sides to have their own separate camps. Instead they sat face-to-face across a row of three narrow tables lined up end to end, their knees practically touching underneath. On the near side with his back to Coleman sat District Attorney Terry McEachern. He was flanked by two young assistant prosecutors, a special prosecutor he had hired just for the hearing, and a fifth attorney provided by the county’s insurance company.

In a part of the state where dressed up usually means a western jacket over starched blue jeans, McEachern wore an expensive gray suit and imported leather shoes. He was perhaps the only male native of Swisher County to use hairspray, and his silvering black hair was nicely complemented by gold wire rim glasses. In his early fifties, he was a big man, with a full, well-tanned neck and sensitive eyes that women found attractive. McEachern presided over one of the busiest district attorney’s offices in the panhandle. In his seventeen years as the chief prosecutor for Swisher County and neighboring Hale County, he had personally tried over 500 cases. He did not believe in preparation; often he would read the case file for the first time during his opening statement. His knowledge of the law was relatively limited, and he was not particularly good at oral argument. But he knew how to pick a jury and he was an outstanding politician, and that made all the difference. He had built his career on aggressive prosecution of his two bread-and-butter charges: drunken driving and drug crimes. No matter what the charges were, he liked to tell juries that drugs and alcohol (the sale of which was still illegal in much of the panhandle) were bound to be involved somehow, along with the two other basic elements of trouble: sex and money. McEachern’s rhetoric squared nicely with what jurors heard in church every Sunday, and this was not an accident. Defendants in his district usually didn’t take their chances on a trial, and when they did, jurors—the righteous plainsmen and women McEachern knew so well—almost never let him down.

Things were different this time around. There was no jury to appeal to. The defendants were in the jury box, looking down at him. A visiting judge whose politics McEachern could only imagine sat at the top of the dais. His career hinged on whether or not a former narc—a man he knew next to nothing about—could hold it together on the stand for one more day. And on the other side of the table sat thirteen attorneys, including representatives from some of the most prestigious law firms in the country. It was shaping up to be the worst week of his life.

Vanita Gupta was the reason the attorney’s well was so full. She was an unlikely nemesis for a career Texas prosecutor. Standing perhaps five-foot-two, with long black hair and a slender frame, she was just twenty-eight years old and looked a good five years younger. Born in Philadelphia to Indian immigrant parents and raised in England, her experience as a criminal defense attorney consisted of a single summer at the Washington, D.C., public defender’s office. Gupta first heard about Tulia in the fall of 2001. She had been out of New York University law school for exactly four months and had just landed her dream job: attorney for the storied NAACP Legal Defense Fund in New York. Founded in 1940 by civil rights pioneer and eventual Supreme Court Justice Thurgood Marshall, LDF litigators had argued some of the most famous civil rights cases in American history, including Brown v. Board of Education, the seminal school desegregation case. The transcripts of the Tulia trials were her introduction to the legal system in Texas, and she had never encountered anything like it. Gupta had spent the past year and a half of her life working on the cases for ten to twelve hours a day, poring over court documents, visiting defendants in prison, and traveling back and forth between Tulia and New York. Now she was surrounded by a team of top corporate attorneys from two of Washington’s most prominent firms, which she had recruited to the cause, at the turning point in a case every civil rights attorney in the country had heard of, in the middle of a state she knew almost nothing about.

As the only local attorney on the defense team, Jeff Blackburn knew the courts of the Texas panhandle all too well. He was a sole practitioner from Amarillo who made his living from clients who walked in off the street, mainly people facing drug or DWI charges. Coleman’s operation in Tulia had been funded by an Amarillo-based drug task force that Swisher County belonged to, and Blackburn had butted heads with agents and supervisors of that same task force on many occasions. He lived with his teenage son in the back of his office building, a converted paint factory in a blue-collar neighborhood not far from the freeway. Blackburn, who was in his mid-forties and had thin brown hair that resisted styling, was not particularly handsome. But he had an abundance of charisma and never failed to put on a good show in court, where he was known as a skilled trial attorney. It was his advocacy for civil rights, however, that had made him one of the best-known defense attorneys in Amarillo. As an articulate liberal in an extremely conservative town, he had become unofficial spokesperson for the town’s downtrodden. He knew virtually everybody in town, and he had a knack for interjecting himself into high-profile cases and getting his face on TV. The reporters and producers for the local news stations loved his gravelly smoker’s voice and his penchant for bitingly sarcastic one-liners.

Blackburn’s father had been one of the panhandle’s best defense attorneys, and his idols were the great men of the Texas trial lawyer pantheon, legendary liberals who battled the forces of reaction, usually represented by the men in black robes. He considered himself a leftist intellectual. In the hall outside his waiting room were posters of great labor leaders past, figures like A. Philip Randolph and Big Bill Haywood and Mother Jones. One wall of his living room was covered floor to ceiling with perhaps 5,000 books, heavily peppered with Marxist history and philosophy. He had gotten involved in the Tulia cases shortly after the first trials and had spent countless hours working pro bono on behalf of various defendants. At times over the past  two and a half years, when nothing seemed to come of the work, he had come close to abandoning the cause. Now Tulia had evolved into his biggest case ever, and he was enjoying every minute of it.

Blackburn and Gupta huddled with their colleagues as Coleman took his seat. Things were not going exactly as planned. Strictly speaking, the object of the hearing was not to determine whether or not Coleman fabricated cases in Tulia. Instead, to win, the defendants had to prove that McEachern had improperly withheld information about Coleman—such as the fact that he had been under indictment while working in Tulia, for example—from their clients, which prevented them from receiving a fair trial. This type of appeal was known as a Brady claim, after the Supreme Court case that established the precedent. Success would mean new trials for the four defendants in court today and would vastly improve the prospects for all sixteen Tulians still in prison. Failure would mean that the whole process would have to be repeated in federal court, an undertaking that might last years and offered no guarantee of success. The presiding judge, a semiretired Dallas judge named Ron Chapman, had sounded a disturbing note in his opening remarks three days earlier. The defendants should not necessarily anticipate, he warned, that each of them would get the same relief, if any, from the proceedings. The facts in each case were different, so the outcome might be different as well. Chapman had repeated that idea a couple of times during informal hallway conversations that made their way back to the legal team in ominous bits and pieces. It seemed to confirm what some on the team had feared from the outset: even if the judge agreed with their arguments, someone was still going to get screwed.

The most likely candidate was Freddie Brookins Jr. Gupta had taken on Freddie’s case personally and had come to know his family well. In many ways, Freddie was the odd man out in the jury box. Seated on Joe Moore’s right, he wore an expression of deep concentration, his round cheeks and shaved head reminiscent of an overgrown  baby. Just twenty-two at the time of arrest, he had no prior record. He came from a solid family that was well thought of in Tulia. His father, Fred Brookins Sr., a line manager at a beef-packing plant, sat a few rows behind the attorney’s well. He was a short, muscular man in his mid-fifties with a graying goatee and sensitive eyes. His air of thoughtfulness and quiet authority made him a de facto spokesman for the Tulia defendants. By contrast, the two other young men in the jury box with Moore, Chris Jackson and Jason Williams, had troubled childhoods. Williams’s mother, who was also busted by Coleman, was a longtime crack addict. Jackson, known to his friends as Crazy, had several convictions and one bit in prison under his belt by the time Coleman came to town. His mother was murdered when he was young. Fred Sr. was the kind of father that Jackson, Williams, and dozens of kids on the black side of town dreamed of having. He always thought his son would be in college by now, like his older sister.

Instead Freddie was serving a twenty-year sentence 500 miles away from his family in east Texas, in the state prison that housed death row. He spent his days swabbing out the showers used by condemned men and his evenings listening for the van that arrived every other week or so to take somebody to the execution chamber. And now, four days into the hearing, Judge Chapman seemed to be signaling that Freddie had a weaker Brady claim than his three codefendants. This was because Freddie was the last of the four to be tried. The state’s team was arguing, in essence, that because Freddie had the benefit of information that came out in the first three trials when preparing for his own trial, he had no valid Brady claim against McEachern. If Chapman was buying into that argument, it did not bode well for Freddie’s chances for a new trial. Nor did it look good for the remaining twelve defendants still in prison, either, because most of their cases were adjudicated after Freddie’s trial.

For the past three days the team had grilled Sheriff Stewart and Coleman’s supervisors at the task force, and they knew they had  scored some good points with the judge. But it wasn’t enough. They were going to win or lose based on how well Coleman did on the stand. They had to shift the hearing from a fact-finding tour about prosecutorial misconduct to a referendum on Coleman and his character. They had to show the judge exactly what kind of man this was. The task of examining Coleman fell to Mitch Zamoff, one of the firm attorneys recruited by Gupta. Tall and lean, with an angular face and a clean-shaven head, Zamoff was a former federal prosecutor with scores of trials under his belt. He had a reputation as a ruthless and precise examiner, and he was armed with dozens of examples of Coleman’s conflicting testimony in past hearings and trials. Coleman, however, had managed to dodge everything thrown at him by trial and appellate attorneys over the past three years. They had him on the ropes countless times but he always slipped away.

What they needed was a knockout. Today. Zamoff stood up and buttoned his suit. Time to go.





[ CHAPTER ONE ]

Busted

A DOZEN OFFICERS stood outside the Swisher County sheriff’s office smoking cigarettes and drinking coffee in the predawn darkness of a cool summer morning on the high plains. It was July 23, 1999, and it would have been a good day to commit a crime in Swisher County. All seven of Tulia’s police officers were there, including Chief Jimmy McCaslin. Sheriff Larry Stewart brought every deputy he had available, and the local state troopers had been pulled in off the highway as well. They were waiting for agents from the task force in Amarillo to arrive so they could get started with the morning’s work: a stack of arrest warrants several inches high. Each had a cover sheet with the name of the defendant, his date of birth, and a black-andwhite Xerox photo of the target. Under many of the photos were notes scrawled in black magic marker: “Cooker (crack),” “Fighter,” “Armed: Use Caution!” The notes reflected intelligence gathered by Tom Coleman during his eighteen-month investigation.

Until the secret indictments had come down a few days earlier, none of these men, with the exception of Sheriff Stewart, had even heard of Coleman. Many had still not met him; they just knew that he was from the drug task force up the highway in Amarillo. Like most of the rural counties around Amarillo, Swisher County had technically  been a member of the task force for years, but the “jump out boys,” as the crooks called them, had seldom come this far south. And no agency of any stripe had ever done a roundup like this in Swisher County. Forty-seven arrest warrants for drug dealing in Tulia! This was huge. Most of the officers assembled that morning had never done a felony drug arrest. Their days consisted mainly of endless cruising around the county’s perfectly flat rural roads or the deserted streets of Tulia, getting keys out of locked cars, keeping the drunks in line at football games, making an occasional arrest for DWI. A not insignificant portion of their time was spent patrolling the inside of the café at the Tulia Livestock Auction, where they enjoyed cheap coffee and marathon bull sessions. This bust was going to be on TV in Amarillo and Lubbock, maybe even in Dallas. This was going to put Tulia on the map.

The sky was turning from black to dark blue when the task force cars pulled up. A half dozen agents poured out. They were dressed all in black, like SWAT officers. They wore no badges, and their cars were unmarked. Their T-shirts simply read POLICE in big white block letters. Several of them carried assault rifles. Coleman was with them, and a few of the local officers recognized him: a scruffy, long-haired, unsavory-looking character they’d seen around town over the past year. He was the last person they’d have expected to be a cop, but then most of them had never met a real narc before. Coleman had on black as well, and he carried a black ski mask in his fist. On his belt was a pair of expensive-looking automatics. He shook hands with all of the local officers, accepting their congratulations. He didn’t need any coffee; he was juiced and ready to go. This was the greatest day of his life.

Freddie Brookins Jr. woke up at dawn that morning, as he usually did, and started running his bath. He lived on the south side of Tulia, which was mostly black and Hispanic. His street was lined with small wood-frame houses, some with freshly painted porches and tidy  yards, and others so weathered by the high plains sun and blowing dust that no trace of the original paint could be seen. He had no particular reason for rising so early; he had simply grown accustomed to getting up with the sun during the year he spent working in the country, just after graduating from high school. His father, Fred Sr., kept some hogs and a few calves on a piece of rented ranch property, and Freddie’s job was to slop them down every morning and make sure they weren’t getting into any trouble. The hogs, in turn, were supposed to be keeping Freddie out of trouble until he found a job of his own, or, as his father was quietly hoping, applied to college. Fred Sr. grew up on a farm, and he considered spending time in the country to be a wholesome influence on his kids. He still dressed like a farmer most of the time, in boots and blue jeans and a ball cap. Freddie’s older siblings had spent time tending the animals when they were his age, and they all eventually settled down and found their own careers.

Freddie, on the other hand, was having trouble getting his feet on the ground. After a year or so out on the farm, he had convinced his dad to get him a job at Excel, the meatpacking plant in nearby Plainview where Fred Sr. worked as a line manager. Freddie was assigned to the processing line, where his job was to cut the bones out of a moving line of strip steaks, spending no more than ten seconds per steak. Most parents on the south side of town were pleased if their kids worked at all, but Fred wasn’t crazy about his son starting a career at Excel. It was cold, it stank, and the odds of losing a finger or hand were higher than most people realized. It wasn’t just that, however. Like most black Tulians his age, Fred Sr. grew up picking, pulling, and chopping cotton, and he wanted something better than manual labor for his son. Freddie didn’t really have the disposition for the job anyway. He had a tendency to question authority—a trait he inherited from his dad—and there weren’t many environments more heavily managed than a packing plant. After about a month on the job, he got into an altercation with a Mexican worker (Mexicans outnumbered  blacks about ten to one at the plant) and that was the end of his career in meatpacking, supervisor in the family or no.

Now Freddie was unemployed. It was not an uncommon problem on the south side of town, but Freddie was a Brookins, and everybody knew that the Brookins worked. Even his grandfather, well into his seventies, still got up every morning and put in his hours on the family farm. Freddie knew that if he didn’t find something soon, it would be back to slopping his father’s hogs.

As he was stepping into his bath, Freddie saw a shadow move across the bathroom window. “There’s people in the yard!” his girlfriend Terry yelled from the bedroom. Freddie grabbed a sheet and wrapped it around himself. Before he could get to the window he heard a loud banging on the door. “Do you know who it is?” he asked Terry. She shook her head. Freddie cracked the door open and saw Sheriff Larry Stewart on his porch. Behind him were perhaps half a dozen men with guns. Men in black with ski masks over their faces lay prone in the yard, rifles pointed in his direction.

Freddie had grown up going to the same Church of Christ chapel with Larry Stewart, where he’d listened to the tall, solemn-faced farmer sing every Sunday. He hadn’t said more than ten words to Stewart since he’d become sheriff, and he had never particularly liked him—but assault rifles at dawn? What did the man think he’d been up to?

“We have a warrant for your arrest, Freddie,” Stewart said. He slid a piece of paper through the screen door. “Delivery of a controlled substance,” Freddie read. He was dumbfounded. His first instinct was to shut the door.

“If you close the door, we’ll have to shoot,” Stewart warned. Freddie stepped out onto the porch, holding his sheet up with one hand and the warrant in the other.

“Put your hands against the house!” one of the agents shouted. By now the neighbors had come out up and down the street. Freddie couldn’t remove his hand from his waist.

“Freddie, I’m not going to tell you again,” Stewart warned. Then somebody snatched the sheet off, and Freddie stood there buck naked on his front porch as they cuffed him and read him his rights. The agents began to pull him toward the car. Freddie recognized one of the Tulia cops, a man he knew as Big Otis. “Let me put some clothes on,” Freddie pleaded. Otis intervened and took Freddie inside. Stewart and a half dozen cops followed. As Terry cowered in the living room, Freddie got dressed. He still had no idea what was going on.

“Larry, you’ve known me for years and you’ve never known me to sell drugs,” Freddie said. Stewart’s long-jowled face was like a rock. “Well, I don’t know about that,” he said.

“What do you mean you’ve never sold drugs?” one of the masked agents jeered. He stepped up close and put his gun near Freddie’s head. With his other hand he pulled his mask up. It was Tom Coleman. “Recognize me now?” the man gloated. Freddie didn’t.

“Take him to the car,” Stewart said.

Joe Moore’s house was still dark when the police arrived at 300 South Dallas Street that morning. It was not an impressive dwelling. The exterior walls were made of pocked brown stucco, repaired here and there with patches of white. The detached garage looked ready to fall over onto the rusty car parts and scrap metal strewn on either side of it. An uneven dirt yard was scarred by the hardened ruts of truck tires. The Tulia police had raided this house more than once, though the last time had been years ago. On this morning the jump-out boys left empty-handed; Coleman’s prize catch was nowhere to be found.

Moore was out in the country at that hour, trying to make money the way respectable folks in Swisher County had done for a hundred years—by fattening up creatures with four legs and selling them to those with two. For the past ten years or so, Moore had run a modest hog and calf operation on a piece of land he rented from a white farmer about five miles outside of town. He started with no capital but plenty of ingenuity. He hustled cracked waste grain from Tulia’s  elevators and hauled off surplus milk from a local dairy to feed his first few sows. When he could scrape up enough money he’d buy a calf or two, more often than not some half-dead animal that a neighbor had all but given up on. Moore suckled them with a bottle by hand. The operation had been touch and go for years. On one occasion, when Moore was in the county jail, a fence blew down during a storm and his entire drove wandered off down the highway. A neighboring farmer rounded them up until Moore’s girlfriend, Thelma Johnson, could come and collect them. Now he had over 200 hogs in his pens and the longtime labor of love was beginning to pay off.

Moore made his share of disreputable money over the years, chiefly through bootlegging. The local vice industry made Moore notorious but never rich, and he spent most of his time trying to stay out of jail, especially after the rumor spread that he was in the drug business as well. Though Moore was busted twice on minor cocaine charges over the years, Terry McEachern never managed to put him away for long, chiefly because he never caught him red-handed. It was not for lack of effort, however. For McEachern, and especially for Sheriff Stewart, Moore was the one that got away.

His past was waiting for him when he got back to town that morning. Moore parked his truck in the yard, oblivious to the pandemonium less than a quarter of a mile down the street at the small cluster of Tulia Housing Authority duplexes that housed several of Coleman’s targets. Phones were ringing off the hook all over the south side of town by this point, but Moore didn’t have a phone. He took off his muddy boots and settled down on the couch to wait for The Price Is Right to come on. Suddenly his neighbor’s face darkened his screen door. “They’re arresting all the black folks, Bootie!” she shouted through the screen. She was gone before he could ask what the hell she was talking about. It surely wasn’t any of his people, he thought; most of them were already locked up. Thelma Johnson’s son had just been arrested the month before. One of his own sons and his  nephew were in prison. He figured he’d better go see who it was this time. If there was trouble, it would wind up in his lap before long anyway. A lot of people on Tulia’s south side considered him a sort of godfather, and he was used to people bringing their problems to him. He would head downtown to see what was going on, he figured, and be back in time to watch his show.

Moore climbed into his old International Harvester pickup and headed for the county courthouse on the town square. As he pulled up, he saw a crowd on the lawn in front of the old brick jail on the north side of the courthouse. He could see camera crews and at least a dozen police and sheriff’s patrol vehicles, more than he had ever seen in one place in the forty-odd years he had lived in Tulia. As he came to a stop in the courthouse parking lot, another patrol car whipped in behind him. Two officers barreled out, their guns drawn, and ordered him out of the truck and onto the ground. It took three sets of handcuffs linked together to get his wrists cuffed behind his enormous back. “You’ll find out,” the officers told him as he pleaded with them to tell him what he had done. As they entered the elevator to go up to the holding tank, someone shoved him in the back, sending him headlong into the rear wall of the car and raising a bump above his right eye that would never fully go away. They had the kingpin, at last.

Donnie Smith sat against the wall of the holding tank on the second floor of the Swisher County jail, watching in disbelief as the twenty- by thirty-foot cell filled up with his friends and relatives. Freddie Brookins Jr. was there, and Vincent McCray, and Benny Robinson, and more were coming in every few minutes. They had pretty well cleaned out the row of housing authority duplexes west of the tracks, where Donnie’s ex-wife and kids lived. By 9:30 A.M., when Joe Moore shuffled in, the cell was getting crowded. Donnie was glad to see Moore. Although he had been arrested a couple of times for fighting, Donnie had never been accused of a felony. He wasn’t sure  what he was supposed to do. Moore’s warrant had been the same as Donnie’s: delivery of cocaine. But Moore didn’t know any more than anybody else about what was going on; the warrant just said delivery, not when or to whom. Moore seemed to think Donnie would know. Everybody in the tank knew Donnie smoked crack, after all. “I didn’t sell anything to anybody,” Donnie kept repeating whenever a new person entered the tank. He hadn’t smoked any for months, he told Moore, not since he’d come back from rehab in Lubbock the previous winter.

The irony of his arrest was killing him. He had been so strung out the previous fall, his mother had been afraid for his life. Now, after six months on the wagon, he had found steady work with a farmer. He was lifting weights regularly, trying to get back the compact, powerful physique he had been so proud of in high school. After spending most of the past five years trying to stay high, knowing he could have been busted by Sheriff Stewart at any time, he found he enjoyed being behind the wheel of a tractor again, making money, taking care of himself. Now here he was, stone cold sober, sitting in a jail cell.

By 10:30 there were roughly twenty men in the cell, almost all of them black. Cleveland Joe Henderson showed up wearing nothing but his pajama bottoms, his hair a wild shock of uncombed Afro. Donnie had never seen the skinny, soft-spoken Henderson without his neat Snoop Dogg–style ponytails and tiny rimless shades. Baby James Barrow, Donnie’s best friend in high school, was there. All the guys Donnie used to party with were there. Timmy Towery. Chris Jackson. Jason Fry. Troy Benard. Jason Williams. Mandrell Henry. And there were men from the older (and bigger) generation too. Donnie’s cousin Kenneth Powell and uncle Willie Hall—Big Tank and Big Bucket, respectively—were there. By the time 300-pound Billy Wafer, sweating and swearing, joined the mix, it was getting hot and hard to breathe in the tank, with no air conditioning.

They even got crazy old Leroy Barrow, who lived in a trailer without  electricity or running water out behind the Housing Authority duplexes in the Flats. Donnie would see the old man setting out every morning on his daily search for aluminum cans, muttering to himself. Barrow’s chronically unemployed younger brother Adolphus sometimes joined him. Big Brother and Little Brother they called them. The Barrows were one of the largest families in Tulia, and Leroy was not the only member considered to be a little “throwed off,” as Donnie put it. The idea of Big Brother selling dope was ridiculous, however, and Baby James was just an addict, same as he was. Donnie knew just about everybody in town who smoked crack. He’d partied with them all over the years, and some of them were in the tank with him now. But as far as dealers went, Donnie knew only four or five people who really fit that description, and even they were small-time hoods, mostly playing at being gangsters. You had to go to Plainview or Amarillo to find a real dealer, and Donnie knew a few of those too. Guys like Freddie Brookins Jr. and Vincent McCray and Billy Wafer were working people. They always had jobs. Something was seriously fucked up about this.

They had all morning to speculate about who the narc was. Both Freddie Brookins Jr. and Billy Wafer had seen the man at their houses that morning, but neither had recognized him. Wafer got a good long look at him as he tossed his house looking for drugs. Nothing was found. In fact, nobody had been caught holding anything.

The mystery deepened around noon, when the sheriff came up to the second floor accompanied by an officer dressed in black. The man wore a ponytail and a red goatee, and he had a pale, puffy face. He stepped up to the bars. “How ya’ll doin’?” he gloated. He was smiling. “Bet you didn’t expect to see me here.”

For a moment, a perplexed silence filled the tank. Then Donnie spoke up. “Shit, that’s T.J.,” he said. Stewart and Coleman moved on past the tank. Everybody started talking at once. Now they remembered him, a skinny guy in a black leather jacket who called himself  T.J. Dawson and claimed to be a construction contractor living ten miles up the interstate in a little hamlet called Happy. He could usually be found hanging around the cattle auction in Tulia on Monday mornings, when Donnie and a host of other day laborers showed up to work at the weekly sale, or cruising around town in a little black truck with an older black man he had befriended, a well-known alcoholic named Man Kelly. Some had met T.J., but many had only seen him here and there, hanging around with Kelly. There had been rumors from the very beginning that T.J. was a narc. “I told you that man was nuthin’ but the law,” Joe Moore said. Donnie remembered the rumors about T.J. but was still incredulous. “I smoked rock with that man,” Donnie told them. Four or five others in the tank said they had done the same. How could he be a cop? “I sat in his truck and blew smoke with the man,” Donnie marveled. He had been so positive the guy was an addict.

On his way out Coleman passed the tank again. “You niggers quit sellin’ them drugs!” they heard him yell before he passed out of range. Everybody exploded at once, Donnie loudest of all. “Man, fuck you!” he yelled. He kicked the metal door as hard as he could, but Coleman was already gone.






[ CHAPTER TWO ]

The Richest Land and the Finest People

IN 1890 WORD came to the fledgling town of Tulia that a party of Comanches was on the warpath in the Texas panhandle. It was an unlikely story, since the last of the hostile Texas Indians had been famously routed in 1874. The decisive battle took place about thirty miles northeast of Tulia in Palo Duro Canyon, where a U.S. Cavalry colonel named Ranald S. MacKenzie ambushed a group of 600 fugitives from the Oklahoma reservations. Most of the Indians escaped, but MacKenzie got what he was after: their enormous cache of horses. Without them the plains Indians were no threat to anyone. MacKenzie drove the herd back to his camp and selected the best 450 animals for his own men. The remaining 1,500 he ordered shot. Tulia, like each of the hamlets that popped up in the newly secured country, owed its birth to that ruthless act.

According to Swisher County History, a collection of anecdotes, early public records, and pioneer testimonials set down by a local historian in 1968, the rumor of the returning Comanches was brought to town by a drunken stagecoach driver from the nearby JA Ranch, the first and most storied of the giant panhandle cattle ranches. The cowboys of the JA may have been playing a joke on the newcomers, the small farmers they derisively called “nesters,” whose settlements they  correctly perceived as the beginning of the end of the open range. If so, it worked better than anybody could have anticipated. The news was met with hysteria in Tulia. Few of the nesters had ever seen an Indian, but they had heard the stories: children kidnapped, men murdered, crops burned. Settlers flocked to town from nearby farms, bringing nothing but their children and their guns. They dug trenches around the courthouse and the White Hotel, the only substantial buildings in town. Wood was hauled from the canyon to build ramparts. For two nights Tulia remained holed up, waiting for the pounding hooves and war whoops that never came.

Tulians tend to understand this well-worn tale not so much as a parable about fear of the unknown as a testament to the hardiness of their forebears. In the face of trouble, after all, their ancestors didn’t run. They chose to stay and fight, however illusory the enemy may have turned out to be. Tulians are fiercely proud of their town’s history. This may be in part because there is so little of it—the panhandle region was one of the last places in Texas to be settled by whites—or it may be due to the fact that Swisher County was carved out of the prairie by the present generation’s own pioneer parents and grandparents, not some distant ancestors. What William Faulkner said of the Old South—the past isn’t forgotten here, in fact, it isn’t even past—is quite literally true in this county, where a few gray members of the first generation born in Swisher County are still marking time at the Tulia Health and Rehabilitation nursing home on South Austin Road.

The original settlers of Swisher County were uncommonly hardy people. Tulia sits atop an arid and windswept plateau known locally as the Llano Estacado, which forms the southern tip of the High Plains. The uncannily flat plateau, with an elevation of about 3,000 feet, ends about fifty miles east of Tulia, where the landscape drops abruptly down through rocky canyons that were all but impassable to nineteenth-century travelers. Decades after the great westward migration  had reached the Pacific Ocean, this pocket of the West, which some maps still referred to as the Great American Desert, remained unsettled. The 1870 Census counted not a single citizen in a fifty-fourcounty swath of the Texas panhandle, an area the size of Connecticut, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Jersey, Vermont, New Hampshire, and Washington, D.C., combined. The state of Texas couldn’t give the land away. The legislature eventually traded a huge portion of it—3 million acres, the better part of ten counties—to a Chicago engineering firm in exchange for the construction of the state capitol in Austin. A group of English investors ended up with the land, which became the famous XIT ranch. Few in the legislature even knew what they had given away; the XIT was as close to Denver as it was to Austin.

Even after the U.S. Army removed the Indians, settlers were slow to arrive in a land where houses had to be built of sod, streams often dried up or were too salty to drink, and almost nothing edible grew naturally. There was so little wood that cattle or bison chips were the most commonly used fuel. The settlers referred to them by grade: “round browns” burned longest and hottest, “white flats” were the worst. It was a hardscrabble existence for those who did try to make a go of it. The High Plains are bitterly cold in the winter, brutally hot in the summer. Shade is not a natural occurrence except along the river breaks; the earliest settlers had to plant saplings and wait. Every spring brings vicious thunderstorms with tornadoes and hail, and the wind is a constant presence year round, pounding dust into anything unfortunate enough to obstruct the perfect flatness of the plains. Even today, after a particularly bad dust storm, panhandle residents have reported finding dust inside their refrigerators. Still, there is a stark beauty to the High Plains, with its impossibly huge blue skies and sweeping vistas of nothing at all. The first settlers found fields of tall prairie grass dotted with herds of antelope, along with the coyotes and wolves that preyed on them. The pristine canyons were inhabited by bears and mountain lions. “If we only had water,” an early cattleman  once said, “this country would be a paradise.” His foreman is said to have responded: “So would hell.”

The frontier was rapidly closing by the late 1870s. The panhandle was one of the last places a man could bring his family for a chance at the old republican ideal of land ownership and self-sufficiency, a place where a man could start anew, no longer, as one early Swisher County brochure put it, “fettered with landlord’s chains nor ‘Shylock’s’ mortgages.” Still, most of the earliest settlers were already too late when they arrived. The great cattle barons, many of them financed by eastern or British capital, had laid claim to huge expanses of the best acreage. Because the land was so dry and unproductive, only well-capitalized operations could accumulate enough land to raise a large herd. The small operators had to eke out a living on the margins, and few chose to try. The “Longhorn lords” considered anybody not working for them to be working against them, especially the Mexican traders and the small ranchers who made their living at least partly through “mavericking,” appropriating unbranded cattle and calves from around the edges of the big herds. The small hamlets with their plowed fields, few and far between as they were, also threatened the economy of the open range. The Panhandle Cattlemen’s Association, the closest thing the area had to a governing body, hired mercenaries to keep the newcomers in line. Thugs laid barbed wire fences between the nesters’ towns and nearby roads. The farmers responded by shooting the cattlemen’s fence riders off their horses. Things got so heated that the Texas legislature called a special session in 1884 to head off the class war on the range.

Life on the High Plains was about sacrifice, and it was not for everyone. Many simply gave up and went back to the world they knew. In the long war of attrition against cattlemen, wind, drought, prairie fires, and the endless armies of jackrabbits and grasshoppers, the families that remained, no matter how lonely and isolated they  may have been from one another, came to depend on each other in a way no one from the city could understand. They pooled their labor at harvest time and bargained collectively with middlemen for seed and services. They printed newspapers with names like The Stayer. They scratched a civilization out of the dirt.

In the end, their sacrifice was rewarded. The era of the cattle kings, source of so much of the mythology of modern Texas, was a short one. By 1890, when Swisher County was officially organized, much of the open range had been fenced off, and the railroads had reached the panhandle, making the long cattle drives unnecessary. The coming of the railroads also meant that the new towns of the panhandle would not fade away. A 1909 brochure promoting Swisher County celebrated the victory of the stayers:
It was organized in 1890, by a handful of pioneer “nesters,” who, battling against great odds, with the “plow and the hoe” as their only munitions of war, began a march of invasion into a country, which had hitherto been the cattle king’s dominion, each year picking up a new recruit here and a new recruit there, waging their relentless war of conquest with such vigor and determination that the “Longhorn Lord” has been completely vanquished and the virgin soil is now smiling beneath a bountiful yield of golden grain and other abundant crops for which nature intended her.





Such brochures, distributed by the railroad companies and others hoping to cash in on the real estate boom that hit so many frontier towns, were known for their hyperbole. But in this case the good news about Swisher County was true. What seemed like barren land—with only twenty inches of rain a year—was situated in the middle of what came to be known as the shallow water belt of the Ogallala aquifer, the giant underground lake that underlies much of  the Great Plains. Anybody with the money for a well and a windmill could tap seemingly inexhaustible quantities of pure, fresh water at depths as shallow as twenty feet.

Tulia and the villages surrounding it slowly grew as families trickled in, drawn by the promise of cheap land. Many of them came from central Texas or southern states, including a few Civil War veterans. Others came from as far away as the Upper Midwest, and the flavor of the new communities was by no means exclusively southern. A clan of Republicans from Indiana settled northeast of Tulia. They named their town Vigo Park, after the Indiana community they had left behind. A group of German Catholic immigrants landed twenty miles west of Tulia and built a community they called Nazareth. Amarillo to the north and Lubbock in the south emerged as the commercial centers of the panhandle, though the combined population of both was still less than 100,000 by the 1930s, when things took a drastic turn for the worse. Woody Guthrie was living in the panhandle town of Pampa on April 14, 1935, the day the mother of all dust storms swept down from Oklahoma and smothered the Texas panhandle. “It fell across our city like a curtain of black rolled down/We thought it was our judgment, we thought it was our doom,” he later wrote. Cars were completely buried. Thousands of farm animals were lost. Mothers covered their babies’ cribs with wet blankets, but many infants and old people died of “dust pneumonia.” “Black Sunday,” as it came to be known, was the worst of a never-ending series of devastating dust storms, the culmination of years of drought and soil loss caused by overgrazing and overplanting on the Great Plains.

Guthrie didn’t stick around to see if the area would recover, and neither did hundreds of other plainsmen, who joined the flood of refugees passing through Texas on their way to California. His ballad “So Long, It’s Been Good to Know Yuh” summed up the feeling of many about their brief experiment with life in the Texas panhandle. Dorothea Lange’s 1938 photo of a migrant woman stranded near the  panhandle town of Childress, holding herself with one arm and shading the west Texas sun with the other, became one of the best known documents of this bitter period. Less well known is the woman’s commentary, recorded by Lange, on the plainsmen she found herself thrown in with: “You can’t get no relief here until you’ve lived here a year. This county’s a hard county. They won’t help bury you here. If you die, you’re dead, that’s all.” After years of dust, drought, and the specter of starvation, the people of the panhandle had nothing left to give.

Swisher County embraced the New Deal, though you wouldn’t know it from a visit to the Swisher County Museum. The New Deal is a sort of dirty secret in the modern panhandle, which became the nation’s leading bastion of anticommunism in the 1950s and is still one of the most politically conservative regions in the country. But in the 1930s, things were different. Roosevelt’s programs didn’t really do much for farmers, but Dust Bowlers appreciated what he had to say about America’s duty to the downtrodden. Swisher County went for FDR in 1932 in a landslide, 1,448 to 166. The next year county voters endorsed the state’s sale of bonds for relief of unemployment, 670 to 173. (Since Texas was one of the few states in the union to explicitly cap welfare funding in the state constitution, sale of the bonds required a constitutional amendment approved by the voters.)

As the regional economy recovered in the war years, the panhandle began its hard swerve to the right, led by Amarillo. The city was undergoing a war boom, fueled by the construction of an airbase and a major munitions plant. Oil and gas had also been discovered in the panhandle, which brought an influx of new money and new people to Amarillo. Texas had been a one-party state since the Civil War, but the upheaval in the Democratic Party over civil rights and the perceived radicalism of northern “race liberals” was causing more and more Texans to begin voting Republican, at least in nationwide races. Amarillo Republicans proudly proclaimed themselves the vanguard of this shift. They were not Rockefeller Republicans, however—their  creed was a new mix of fiscal conservativism, anticommunism, and fundamentalist religious fervor. In 1964, Amarillo was one of a handful of Texas cities to favor Barry Goldwater over the state’s native son, Lyndon Johnson. After thoroughly trouncing Goldwater, who most Americans felt to be dangerously out of the mainstream, LBJ turned his unkind attention on Amarillo, which lost its airbase in very short order. (This is the back story to how the city came to own a municipal airport with one of the longest runways in the country.)

The bomb factory eventually evolved into Pantex, the final assembly point for the nation’s nuclear arsenal. Embracing Pantex made Amarillo ground zero in the Cold War, which began to color almost every aspect of life there. The city became the breeding ground for a particularly virulent strain of American nativism, in which the chief bugaboos were Catholics, Jews, communists, and liberals. Local adherents of the ultrapatriotic John Birch Society, elsewhere a secretive and controversial group, wore their membership as a badge of honor in Amarillo; even politicians bragged of membership in campaign literature. Amarillo cemented its nationwide reputation as one of the most conservative places in America. At the height of the counterculture, when Route 66 was bringing hundreds of longhaired hippies and would-be hippies through town every month, the sheriff’s office installed an authentic barber’s chair in the Amarillo jail. “For a good while,” the Texas Observer reported in 1970, “business there, if not the skill and care in grooming, was about as steady as a country barber shop’s.”

Led by Amarillo’s defection, more and more of the panhandle jumped the fence to vote Republican. Swisher County, however, has always demonstrated an independent streak. For a generation after FDR, New Deal–style populists like Ralph Yarborough, the icon of old-time Texas liberals, fared significantly better in Swisher County than in other parts of the panhandle. In the 1957 special election for U.S. Senate, Swisher County went for Yarborough by almost 5 to 1  over Texas Congressman Martin Dies, the anticommunist crusader who led the House Un-American Activities Committee in the 1940s. Well into the 1970s, Swisher County remained the hole in the donut of panhandle voting patterns. In recent years, as the Republicans have consolidated their control over much of rural Texas, the Democrats have retained a tenuous hold on Swisher County.

Most Democrats credited one man for the enigma of Swisher County voting: H. M. Baggarly, Tulia’s legendary newspaperman. Baggarly, who edited the Tulia Herald for nearly thirty years beginning in 1950, was the quintessential crusading country editor. Like many of his generation, he saw politics through the lens of the Great Depression and the government intervention that ended it. But Baggarly was more articulate than most and he clung to his New Deal convictions long after they became anathema in much of the panhandle. Baggarly was a deeply religious man, but what he lived for was politics. His weekly column took on what he called the Shivercrats, those Democrats who, like Governor Alan Shivers, secretly—or not so secretly—supported Republicans in national elections. Tulians’ main source of news prior to Baggarly’s taking over the Herald were the reactionary papers in Amarillo and Lubbock. Baggarly went headto-head with Amarillo Daily News columnist Wes Izzard, whom he called “the Izzard of Was” for his backward-looking politics. On the visit of a prominent John Bircher to Amarillo, Baggarly wrote:
We don’t mean to be sacrilegious when we say that the Second Coming of Jesus could not hope to receive the publicity that the Amarillo papers, radio and television gave the visit of former Major General Edwin Walker to Amarillo.





Baggarly was controversial. Author J. Evetts Haley Jr., perhaps the panhandle’s most prominent conservative voice, called him “one of the most . . . radical left-wingers in West Texas.” That was far from  true. But his advocacy for government programs like social security and his cautious support for civil rights cut against the grain in the panhandle. In the winter of 1958 an unknown party paid to have anti-Baggarly brochures mailed to almost every resident of Swisher County. The brochures singled out Baggarly’s support of the Supreme Court’s ruling on school desegregation. “Baggarlism is Colorism,” the mailing warned. Baggarly didn’t back down, and the farmers and ranchers of Swisher County, whether they agreed with him or not, came to love him for it. Baggarly became Tulia’s first celebrity. His columns were read at the capitol in Austin and even in Washington, where LBJ offered Baggarly a job on his staff. But Baggarly would never leave his home; he loved Tulia too much.

And Tulia loved itself, particularly during Baggarly’s reign, which coincided with Swisher County’s heyday. In the postwar boom, millions more Americans could afford to eat beef on a regular basis. There was a great demand for grains such as milo to feed cattle at the big new feedlots in Colorado, Arizona, and California. Swisher County farmers began sinking irrigation wells outfitted with pumps powered by the natural gas that was so cheap and abundant in west Texas. The number of wells in the panhandle went from just 3,500 in 1945 to nearly 50,000 in 1960. Federal crop controls brought sustained high prices for wheat and other grains for the first time to the Great Plains. By the mid-1950s the panhandle was planted from corner to corner in wheat and milo, and they were calling it the “golden spread.” Cotton planters were also thriving. Eventually feedlot operators began building lots in the panhandle, since much of the feed was coming from there anyway. The big slaughterhouses were not far behind, and Texas’s last good cattle boom was on.

Swisher County was right in the middle of it. By the late 1950s, Swisher was one of the state’s leading counties in grain harvested and cattle fed. The Tulia Livestock Auction became one of the highest volume cattle auctions in the state. Flush with cash, farmers were  trading in their trucks for new models every year or two. You could buy anything you needed on the square in Tulia, and downtown was bustling every weekend. The annual Swisher County Picnic and Old Settler’s Reunion featured a long parade of modern tractors and shiny new combines. For a kid coming out of Tulia High School in 1960, there were plenty of options for work on or off the farm, and the future was bright.

In the mid-1960s, however, farmers in the eastern part of the county started noticing a disturbing trend. Their wells had begun to produce less and less water, and they found themselves drilling deeper and deeper into the aquifer to sustain the irrigation levels—and the profits—they had grown accustomed to. By the end of the 1970s, what was once unthinkable could no longer be denied: mined to its limits through the boom years, the Ogallala aquifer was finally beginning to fail Swisher County. When the water began to go, more and more operators had to switch back to the kind of dryland farming their ancestors practiced—plow, sow, and pray for rain. With no irrigation, one bad year of drought was all it took to break many of the county’s small farms. Rising prices—first for fuel and then for everything else—did in others, until the number of profitable farms was winnowed down to a few dozen large operations owned by prosperous families.

Tulia used to be surrounded by a constellation of tiny communities, little farming villages with their own elementary schools and post offices. These were the first to go as the money began to dry up. The final nail in the coffin was the Conservation Reserve Program (CRP). In the mid-1980s, the federal government started paying landowners to put farmed land back into pasture. A farmer could earn $40 per acre per year just for planting grass. No cattle grazing was allowed, and no hay cutting—the field had to be left alone. The idea was to boost grain prices by taking less efficient land out of production while preserving topsoil and cutting down on dust storms at the same time.  Many saw it as a sop to farmers—getting paid to grow nothing but weeds—but most farmers were not eligible to receive the payments because they did not own the land they farmed. In Swisher County, for example, about four out of five farmers, or operators as they are called, are sharecroppers or renters. To them, a section in CRP simply meant one less opportunity to earn money. The program became very popular with landowners, however, and eventually about a third of the farmland in Swisher County wound up in CRP.

Less land in production meant less of everything in Tulia. Working farms need diesel for irrigation pumps, seeds for crops, tires for tractors, insurance, loans, and tax advice; they keep money flowing through every part of a town’s economy. Working farms also need labor. Farming’s reliance on hired labor was already on the way out by the 1980s, thanks to bigger and better equipment, genetically modified crops, and heavier use of chemicals. The CRP program ensured it would never come back. “Used to be people could get on the end of a cotton hoe and earn enough to eat,” one farmer said. “Now black kids in Tulia don’t do that. They sit and watch color TV all day, even the poor people,” he said.

By the early 1990s, the roads into Tulia were lined with derelict warehouses and empty storefronts, their windows covered with dust. With its abandoned railway sidings, empty grain elevators, and fields filled with rusting farm equipment, the town began to feel like a museum of the High Plains. The town square was largely deserted most weekends. The courthouse, once a prime example of turn-of-the-century Texas Renaissance architecture, had been the victim of an early 1960s renovation which removed the handsome dome and encased the entire structure in a veneer of featureless pink brick, accented by drab red panels and white vertical window blinds. The movie theater was closed, and most of the stores were gone. People did their shopping up the highway at the mall in Amarillo or the Wal-Mart in Plainview, twenty-five miles south of town. “One business  would go, then another,” Jeff Bivens, a third-generation Tulian, recalled. “We’re down to one truck dealership; we used to have six. Down to one store, we used to have seven. Only one grain dealer left, used to have six or seven,” he said. Bivens’s grandfather was one of the original settlers of Swisher County, and at one time his descendants could be found all over the county. Over the years, Bivens watched them sell out, one by one, and leave town, until he was the last of his kin in the area. A thin, wispy man with a soft voice, Bivens lived alone on the northern edge of town in a trailer home with a large complex of horse stables behind it. Long past the age of retirement, he earned his living by doing custom welding and raising horses. “This’ll be a bedroom town before long,” he predicted. “Wal-Mart will run it the way they do the whole country, I guarantee you.”

The ascendancy of Wal-Mart was a common topic of conversation at the Tulia Trading Post, another holdout of sorts a mile or so down the highway from Bivens’s place. Trading Post owner Louie Edwards, who had a wry smile and a quick wit, was in his mid-eighties. He stocked steel, lumber, hardware, and just about anything else a farmer or rancher might need, selling merchandise without the benefit of price tags and making change out of an old manual cash register, just as he had since 1951. Edwards had never set foot in a Wal-Mart, though he had lost a few customers to the store in Plainview. If it had been any closer to Tulia, he probably would have gone out of business long ago. Even absent direct competition, however, the Trading Post was threatened by the high-volume business model that Wal-Mart had created. As an example, Edwards pointed to a collection of power tools resting on a dusty shelf in the Trading Post’s dimly lit interior. He had sold thousands of dollars worth of Makita drills and parts over the years, he explained. Then one day the Makita rep told him he had to start ordering at least $1,000 worth of power tools and $500 worth of parts at a time—a fraction of what Wal-Mart’s giant distribution centers ordered every day—to make it worth their while to keep him  as a customer. “My last order was for $200 worth of parts,” Edwards said. “They didn’t even answer it.”

The former hoe hands were on food stamps, the landowners were getting their CRP checks, and the operators were getting subsidized loans and guaranteed prices at market. Everyone in Swisher County, it seemed, was on one kind of government program or another. After a generation of promise, life in Swisher County was back to what it had always been about—getting by. More and more folks simply weren’t. Bankruptcy, divorce, and alcoholism became common threads of life in the county, as they did across the Midwest. Despite the boastful slogan on the Highway 87 billboard that welcomed people to Tulia—“The Richest Land and the Finest People”—the place that had once produced America’s most famous country editor retained few traces of its former charm. After Baggarly died in 1985, the Tulia Herald declined steadily along with the town. Now edited by a man who was more stenographer than philosopher, the paper contained scarcely any original news. Even the memory of Baggarly’s greatness seemed to have faded. “I think he was a little bit queer,” was all one old farmer had to say about Tulia’s most famous citizen, who remained a bachelor until his death.

Some in Tulia dealt with the decline better than others. In 1993, a handful of bankrupt Swisher County farmers were indicted for filing millions of dollars worth of false liens against the judges who had presided over their foreclosure proceedings. The men were acting on the fraudulent advice of a Colorado-based organization called We the People. A financial scam masquerading as a social movement, the group was founded on the theory that the United States government went bankrupt long ago and therefore lacked the authority to enforce debt collection. The scam spread across the nation’s heartland, until the FBI decided to come down hard on the group’s disciples.

Sheriff Stewart’s brother-in-law Jerry Herndon was one of those indicted. In the 1970s, Herndon was a local organizer for the American  Agriculture Movement, the radical farmers’ group best known for its tractorcades in Washington, D.C., where they protested national agricultural policies. Herndon, a soft-spoken man with gray-tinted trifocal glasses, lived about a mile from the interstate in a modest ranch house surrounded by hundreds of acres of pasture overgrown with weeds. He was still proud of his activism on behalf of farmers, he said. He narrowly avoided a prison sentence in the We the People scam, however, and he kept a low profile around Tulia in the years that followed. Still, he never gave up on getting his land back. On the chrome bumper of his van, the reclusive old farmer had spelled out the phrase “NESARA NOW” in black letters of the type used to put names and numbers on mailboxes. The acronym referred to the National Economic Security and Recovery Act, which Herndon believed was a law that Congress had passed secretly. The Supreme Court was withholding implementation, he explained, until the country returned to what he called a constitutional government and went back on a hard currency standard. “It could really help this country out,” Herndon said.

The NESARA myth, explained in detail on Fourwinds10.com, a website Herndon recommended, was a fantasy tailored to the ruined dreams of thousands of American farmers. When the time is right, the site explains, the law will be put into effect: all debts will be forgiven, including credit cards, mortgages, car loans, education loans, and home equity loans. The entire executive branch will be forced to resign and the IRS will fold. The worldwide banking system will be overhauled and new currency issued, which will reprice all goods and reverse decades of inflation. The website also features a collection of writings from a crystal-worshiping religion, apparently of extraterrestrial origin. A photo of a silvery UFO called a “cloud ship” appears on the homepage.

Tulians of a certain generation seemed to view the flap over the drug bust—which put Tulia in the national spotlight for all the wrong  reasons—as yet another test of their faith, like dust storms or Wal-Mart or farm foreclosures or the FBI. Billie Sue Gayler, who ran the Swisher County Archives and Museum, was once asked by one of the dozens of reporters who filed Tulia stories in the years after the bust how the townsfolk were holding up. She answered, “Those of us who have pioneer blood in us will survive.”






[ CHAPTER THREE ]

Bootie’s Empire

SHOULD HAVE gotten another lawyer. That’s what Joe Moore woke up thinking on December 15, 1999, the morning of his trial. Shortly after he was arrested in Tulia, they moved him to Plainview, where he sat in jail, unable to make his enormous bond, for almost five months. During that time he saw his court-appointed attorney, Kregg Hukill, exactly twice. The first time was in August, shortly after Hukill was appointed. A sole practitioner from Olton, a small town twenty miles west of Plainview, Hukill was a short, slender man in his mid-thirties with thinning hair. He was a country lawyer, which meant he did a little of everything for his small town clients. He supplemented that income by regularly putting his name in the hat for indigent defense cases in Plainview and Tulia. It wasn’t much money—he usually earned less than $500 per case—but then it wasn’t much work, either. Indigent defendants virtually always plead out; trials were for folks who could afford them. Since Hukill wasn’t exactly at the top of the list for high rollers in trouble in that part of the state, he didn’t see many trials.
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